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TH[S vear, 1928, is an extraordinary one in the annals of St. Charles’
Parish. [t marks the one hundredth anniversary of the first beginning
of Catholic life amongst us, as well as the culmination of a series of
renovations which, for more than thirty years, have been going on within
the church. It is only fitting, therefore, that it should not be allowed to
pass by without something out of the ordinary to distinguish it. And so,
in addition to the usual solemn services, honored by our Bishop's presence
which will take place, it has been decided 1o put forth this little commem-
orative volume. One will not expect to find in it anything of a large or
general inferest, but only the little and simple things that appeal to us
as parishioners.

Thus, it is made up of four brief chapters—first a condensed
storv-(taken largely from Major Smyth’s volume) of the parish’s growih;
second, a short account of the gradual development of the church building
itself ; third, a grateful acknowledgment of the generosity thal has made
our malerial progress possible; and finally, a list of all those who, when
the call was made, went from this parish to help in our country’s
need. This last feature has been iniroduced because it was felt that,
although the war is a thing of past history, still there ought to be some-
where a record that would be accessible and abiding.

And so the little book, somewhat belated because of unavoidable
delays, goes forth. That it may become a freasured possession of the
families of St. Charles, and serve in some small measure to advance the
holy purposes, for which the parish stands, is the earnest wish and praver
of those who have put it logether.
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Che Story of St Ghacles” Parish

GJ\C_@ T. CHARLES’ PARISH is the mother parish of northern Rhode
B, 53| Island. The territory which at the outset, it comprised, is now
ministered to by no less than a dozen parishes; the single Priest
that concerned himself with the care of the sparse and scattered
flock has now been succeeded by upwards of fifty; while the handful of
children that painfully made theirr way over country roads to religious
instructions have been multipled to thousands that crowd school and
college,

It is an interesting an ingpiring thing to go back to those rude begin-
nings and ohserve the manner in which, like the gospel mustard seed,
their growth and development went on. And that will be the object of the
following brief record.

In those far-away days, a hundred years ago, when Catholicism first
began to express itself outwardly in this community, the population of
the territory that now embraces Woonsocket and its suburbs, was either
scattered on farms that strefched their checker-board patches here and
there throughout the entire district, or was clustered at different points
into several tiny villages. Of these villages, the two most important were

« Union Village and Woonsocket Falls,

The reason for the settlement at the former place was that at that
point the great road that ran from Boston to Conmnecticut crossed the road
that ran from Providence to Worcester. And in those days, long before
any of our present wonderful modes of locomotion were known, when all
traveling was done by foot, or horseback, or stage coach, cross roads were
as welcome as oases in the desert—places for people to meet and break
the tediousness of hard journeying by exchange of courtesies and friend-
linezs, Thus taverns arose—places wherein refreshment and entertain-
ment were offered for man and beast.

At Union Village, as far back as 1690, inns of this kind were estab-
lished ; and in course of years their number and importance increased until,
in the time of which we speak, quite a large tavern colony had grown up
in the locality. These old inng, save for small remnants that still form
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parts of more modern structures, have all along since disappeared; but
in their day they played an important part in the civil and social life of
the locality.

Woonsocket Falls” appeal was of an entirely different nature. Here,
waterpower was the attraction; and from the very beginning the river
banks saw the erection of little mills of all kinds—the forerunners of
thoge mighty structures that now meet the eye on every side.

In the progress of events, as one can readily understand, the center
of indusiry far outsiripped the center of tavern life; but in the period of
which we speak Union Village was well to the front, and numbered among
its population some of the outstanding persenages of the whole district.
Among theze individuals was one Walter Allen. This gentleman is of
peculiar importance in the story of Catholicity in these parts because it
was he who, brunting the bigotry of the people of the time—a higotry
whose remmnants like the remnants of the old taverns are still observable
in some of the descendants of the period—dared, Protestant though he
was, to open his door to a Catholic priest, and allow him to offer up in
his home the Holy Sacrifice of the Mass,

It is a pleasant occupation to go back in spirit to this first Holy Mass,
and to contemplate the scene—the old-fashioned parlor, the improvised
altar, the travel-worn Missionary, the immigrant congregation. And one
can almost feel one’s self the emotions that welled up in the hearts of that
little group of worshippers, ag they knelt there, fingering their rosaries,
and felt their souls being satisfied, as a thirsty man is satisfied, when,
after long yearning and parched lips, he dips his mouth at length into a
spring of cool water.

The house in which this important happening took place—a two-
storied colonial structure still stands on Great Road, just back from the
highway, partly concealed by a number of fine trees that rige, here and
there, on the wide greensward. It is now known as the Oshorne House,
from the name of the ladies who long occupied it—granddaughters of
Mr. Allen—whose child, Elizabeth had maitied their father, John Osborne.
For us Catholics this house should have something of the character of a
shrine.
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The actors in that scene have all long since passed away. The cele-
brant was the Rev. Robert D. Woodley, D.D., a young Priest who only a
short time before had been sent by Bishop Fenwick of Boston te lock
after the spiritual needs of the people of thig district. Father Woodley’s
Parish included not only the whele State of Rhode Island, but the adjacent
parts of Connecticut and Massachusetts as well, Traveling from place to
place, wherever the Catholic population was numerous enough to require
his services and defray the expenses of his journey, he had come to Woon-
socket In response to the appeal of one Michael Reddy, who acted for a
little group of Catholics living in the section. Just how many Catholics
were hereabouts we do not know. But we may be certain that every one
who could possibly be there, was present at that Mass; and the number
was only ten. And these ten were all men. They were Michael Reddy,
Patriek Mullen, John MecGuire, James Holland, Hugh McCaffrey, Oliver
Burke, Thomag Ide, Hugh ’Brien, Edward McCabe and James Connolly.
From thig we may gather that there were very few if any women in all
this district at that time, which, in a way is not to be greatly wondered at,
as practically all of the Catholics of those days were of the immigrant
clags (Irish) and conditions were not such ag to attract women.

How often the Priest came te Woonsocket in the years immediately
following that first visit, we do not know. There are no records to tell ug. -
But we may say with reasonable certainty that it was nof often. The
demands on the time of the Missionaries, with such & large territory to
minister to, were too great to permit them to come often to a locality
wheve the Catholics were so few and where their increase was so slight.
How slight, indeed, that increase really was may be gathered from the
fact that In 1834, when the first Catholic Census was taken, just six years
after the date of the first Mass, there were but 80 members of the Church
here, an average increase of less than four a year. '

However, although there are no written recovds to tell us of what

-really went on in the religious life of that little group, we are not for

that reason left entirely ignorant. The events of subsequent years throw
a ray of light into the darkness. We see, for instance, how keenly they
felt the loss of religious consolations and priestly ministrations; we admire
the loyally with which they adheved to all the teachings and practices of
their Church; we marvel at the bond that existed amongst them, keeping
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them together, an isolated group, in the midst of a disdainful population;
and we know the joy that animafed them when, now and then, in the
courgse of long intervals, a Priest would come along to shrive them, or
give them Holy Mass, and break unto them the Bread of Life.

The year 1834, the year for which we have the census, is of special
importance in the story of that time. This importance attaches to the
fact that in that year there came as Missionary who for 12 years in suc-
cession continued to administer in the locality and who, by his zeal and
untiring energy and priestly nobility, left a more than ordinary impres-
gion on the religious character of the people,—the Reverend James Fitton.

Father Fitton was not the immediate successor of Fr. Woodley. There
had been several others before he came; for Fr. Woodley’s period of ad-
ministration had ceased in 1831, at which time he joined the Jesuit ifathers,
and went to live in Georgetown. Of the Priests who ministered here from
1831 Lo 1834 little more is exactly known than their names.. They had
their residence in Pawtucket or Providenece, and came here af rare intervals.
There were, as far as the records show, four of them: Fathers Ryan,
Connolly, Finley and Ives.

Father Titton received his parish appointment from the Rt. Rev.
Benedict J. Fenwick, Bishop of the Boston Diocese, which at that time
included all New England. The “parish” extended from Cape Cod to New
York; and wherever a few Catholics could be gathered together he was
found in the midst of them.

The smallness of the Catholie population must not, however, he taken
te indicate that the territory in question was a howling wilderness. Cities
and towns were rapidly developing, and industries were springing up like
magic along the banks of every stream. In Woonsocket the cotton mills
had begun their career, and a population of geveral thousand made it a
thriving center. But it was a non-Catholic population,—and non-Catholic
that was by nature almost anti-Catholic. For the members of the Catholic
fold were not only few in number, but they were made up enfirely of
immigrants, and Irish immigrants at that,—poor, with no social standing,
despised,~that had been led to seftle here on account of the Blackstone
Canal, which was begun in 1825 and finished in 1826, and on which they
had worked az “hewers of stones and drawers of water.)” Only excep-
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tionally, here and there, was a non-Catholic to he found who would deal
with his Catholic neighbor in a spirit of tolerance and good will

Father Fitton’s first visit was made, as I have said, in 1834. Hig
initial act was to gather about him the whole Catholic population, thirty
souls, and offer up the Holy Sacrifice. Of course there was no church,
and on account of the bigotry that .existed, no public hall was open to
him; so Mags was said ag it had been always gaid, in the house of one
of the immigrants,

Previous to Father Fitton's time, the visit of the Priest to Woon-

. socket was irregular,—at such odd times as circumstances made it possible,

But with his advent a change took place. The town became an established
Missionary Station, and to it Father Fition came at regular intelr_'vals,
that grew shorter and shorter, until they became weekly. Up to '1841
Mass was always said in private houses, but that year Mr. Ruel Smith
opened up to the Catholics the hall of the Woonsocket Hotel, of which
he was proprietor. This Mags in the hotel indicated several things. It
showed, for example, that the Catholics had begun to be regarded as a
real element in the community; it showed that their numbers had largely
increased; and it showed that the day would not be far off when they
would have a church of their own.

In the beginning, as we have gaid, the Irish itnmigrants were led
to settle here as a consequence of the building of the Blackstone Canal.
Subszequently, however, the growth was due almost entively to the mills;
and there are few of the old families of the locality who cannot look back
to some membher or other who worked at mule or loom. Asg these mills
developed, and they developed like magic,—a small, wooden one making
way for a stone one, and that in turn being enlarged or destroyed to give
place to a still larger one—more and more immigrants came (for all were
Immigrants in those days) it being a practice among the new arrivals to
write such glowing letters back “home” as to induce relatives or fellow
“fownies” to hasten over.

We do not know the exact population in the early 40s; but we have
every reason to believe that it could not have been much Tess than a thou-
sand,—that is, in the whole region,—including Waterford and Blackstone.
But knowing, as we do, the ambition that Catholics have everywhere to
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have a Church of their own, we can easily appreciate the zeal with which
the “collectors” gathered funds. When the amount gathered reached the
sum of thirteen hundred dollars, the lot on which the present Church
stands was purchased, and the building of a wooden edifice begun. This
structure 40 by 60 feet, was ecompleted in 1844, and in December of that
vear the first Mass in a Catholic Church in Woonsocket was said.

For two years after the erection of the first church, Fr. Fitton con-
tinued to administer as a Missionavy Priest to the needs of the Catholics
of Woonsocket. On his departure in 1846 for Newport, where he continhued
his priestly activities, he wag succeeded by the Rev. Charles O’Reilly, who
is to be set down ag the first resident pastor of the Parish. There was no
rectory, so he had quarters fitted up in the basement of the church; and
there, accepting with the true apostolic spirit the inconveniences and pri-
vation of the place, he took up his residence,

Father O'Rielly remained in charge of the Parish six years, from
1846 to 1852, at which latter date he was transferred to Blackstone. Hig
most important works, apart from the administering to the spiritual needs
of his flock, were the establishing of a cemetery and the enlargement of
the church. The cemetery is the one now known ag St. Paul’s, at the end
of North Main Street. Although purchased by Fr. O'Reilly while he was
still pastor at St. Charles, it is the property of the Blackstone church,
because its title wasg transferred to the latter parish at the time that he
took charge there. Father O’Reilly’s second work, the enlargement of the
church, was a matter of real necessity. Almost from the very beginning
it was seen that the little original structure was inadequate to the needs;
and the ever increasing Catholic population demanded imperatively that
something be done. 8o in 1848 the addition was made. We call it an
addition, but really it was double the size of the original building, being
80 x 120 feet. ' :

It is a matter for gehuine regret that nmo drawing or photograph of
this old church exists to let us know just what kind of a building it was
in which our forefathers worshipped. However, from descriptions given of
it by people who attended it and are still living, we know thal it differed
but little from the type of church of the period of which some are still to
be seen,—with its cruciform design, its barn roof, its short frangeept
galleries (where Sunday School was conducted) and its long flight of
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steps on the outside. One thing especially it had that the wovshippers
admired,—a great red curtain that covered the entire wall behind the
altar and filled the whole edifice with a pentecostal atmosphere,

Father O'Reilly’s successor, the Rev. Hugh Carmody, D.D., remained
but two years, from 1852 to 1854. But it had an important development,
because during it was erected the first parish rectory,

Gf the two immediate suceessors to Father Carmody, hardly anything
more needs to he recorded than their names as pastors; for the first,
Rev. Thomas F. Hendrigan (the future first Bishop of Providence) stayed
but a week; and the second, Rev. John Brady, left after a residence of
but a few months, though it was during the latter’s incumbency that the
parish enjoyed its first Priestly assistant, the Rev. Peter Fgan, who but
come and went, like a bird of passage. With the advent of Fr. Carmody’s
third successor, however, a new era wag inaugurated,—a pastorate which
for length and accomplishment may be said to be monumental in the
diocese.

The Priest who presided over the destinies of the parish during this
era was the Rev. Michael McCabe who, coming here in 1855, fresh from
his ordination in Baltimore, remained, except for a period of three years,
when he fook charge of St. Patrick’s Church in Providence, until his
death in 1893—almost forty years.

Now it is a matter of observance that there is hardly a parish any-
where in the eastern sections of this country that has not had, in the
progress of its development, some Pastor who may be called its creator,
that is, one whose extraordinary vigor and strength of character fixed
upon it a definite and distinctive individuality. In St. Charles that Pastor
was Father McCabe. Coming here at a time when everything, civil and
religious, was in what may be called a raw and inchoate state, he took up,
with a zeal and energy for which the great Irish Priests of the period
were conspicuous (Fr. McCabe was Irish), the affairs that came within
hiz jurisdiction, and little by little he moulded and fashioned them into
a condition that served as a model for others to emulate.

At the time of Fr. MeCabe's eoming, in 1855, the parish numbered
something like 1600 souls, almost all Irish immigrants,—for that was
before the French Canadian influx had begun,—scattered over a territory
that now houses a Catholic population of forty thousand. From the very
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outset he saw the inadequacy of the structure that served for religious
worship, and dreamed of a day when he would have a Church worthy in
every detail of the angust mysteries that it would enshrine, ag well as of
the loving faith and devotion of the splendid congregation that it would
serve. But other things had to ecome first; and these he proceeded at
once to bring to pass. Thus, within the short space of ten years following
hig coming here, he cleared the parish of a debt that he found of $2233,
built a vestry at a cost of $600, purchased the land on which the present
rectory stands, moved the old rectory to the new site, enlarging it and
improving it in the process; built, on Daniel Street, a school, one of the
very first Catholic schools to be erected in the diocese, at a cost of $3100,—
gecured land for a cemetery at East Blackstone,—and accumulated, toward
the erection of a new church, $10,300. In accomplishing thege big things
he revealed not merely an executive and business ability far above the
ordinary, but a rare zeal and priestliness; Tor all the while that he was
advaneing the material structure of the parish, he was developing to a
remarkable degree the spiritual resources of hig flock, and winning the
good will and admiration of citizens generally.

For a brief spell, from 1866 to 1369, Father McCabe served as pastor
of St. Patrick’s Church, Providence. During the interim his place at
St. Charles was filled, first by the Rev. Francis J. Lenihan, who remained
for about a year and a half, and then, for about the same length of time,
by the Rev. Bernard (O'Reilly, D.D. Under Father Lenihan two happen-
ings of noteworthy significance occurred: first, the church that had been
projected by Father McCabe was actually started, and on June 16, 1867,
ity corner-stone laid by the Rt. Rev. I’. F. McFarland, D.D., Bishop of the
Diocese. The other, the appointment, in 1866, of a priest, the Rev. Law-
rence Walsh, to take special charge of the French speaking people of the
parish. This matter of the growing French population continued to be
looked after hy different priests attached o St. Charles—Revs. James A.
Princen, Francis Belanger, and Antoine D. Bernard, until 1873, when the
Precious Blood parish was established with the last named, Fr. Bernavd,
as its first pastor.

Shortly after the corner-stone laying IFather Lenihan, whose health
had never been very robust, fell seriously ill. A hurried trip to Florida
was made to see what a change of climate would do, for he wag only 33
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years of age; but to no advantage. He returned, lingered for a few weeks
in the rectory, and died August 3, 1367.

Rev. Bernard O'Reilly, D.D., the successor of Father Lenihan, took up
the work of church construction where his predecessor had laid it down,
and earried it on with great vigor. The church, however, was still far
from complete, when, in May of the next year, the old church, that had
served the parish sinee 1844, burned down. For a time public halls had to
be rezorted to, Mass being said for a few Sundays in what wag then known
as Armory hall. and then, in Harris hall, on Main street. The incon-
veniences thus occasioned spurred on all concerned to do everything pos-
sible to get the new church in some kind of condition for holding services,
and to everybody’s great satisfaction, in the late fall of that same year,
1868, it was used for the first time. Scon afterwards Father O'Reilly, who
had come here only for a temporary sojourn, took up his residence in the
Diocése of New York. He is remembered in St. Charles not only for having
first opened the church for Holy Mass, but also for having secured the
land on which the convent now stands, the price paid being $6,000.

The date of Father O’'Reilly’s departure was January, 1869, In Feb-
ruary, Father MeCabe returned. With that marvelous energy which
characterized him he straightway set himself to the task of bringing the
church to completion, and he rested not until he saw it dedicated. This
great event took place on Getober 15, 1871, the ceremony being performed
by the Rt. Rev. P. F. McFarland, with all the solemnity of the Catholic
ritual and in the presence of a multitude of the clergy and the laity. From
that date, October 15, 1871, to December 14, 1893, when Father MecCabe
passed to his reward, the parish was developed in every direction. A new
school on River street, St. Michael’'s (the gift of Father MceCabe himself)
was put into operation; the convent, which still serves the Sisters of Mercy
wag built on Earle street; the present rectory was constructed; and the
new church, entirely freed from debt, was consecrated on August 10, 1893.
In addition to all this a large sum was gathered as the nuecleus for the
building of a new school which was projected to take the place of the old
one on the corner of Xarle and Daniels streets,

In view of such prodigious zeal and devotion, it is not surprising that
the parish should have been found worthy to be elevated to the dignity of
a permanent rectorship, and that the pastor himself should have been ele-
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vated to the position of Vicar (zeneral of the Diocese. His name will always
stand at the very top of the long and honored list of those priests who
have served Catholic parishes in this section of the country. The record
of Father McCabe's stewardzhip could not be closed without setting down
at least the names of some of the many priests who assisted him—Revs.
P. Farrelly, P. J. Doyle, James Mahon, C. J. Kelly, J. F. Lynch, E. J. Ral-
tery, of whom now all, save the venerahle and beloved Msgr. Farrelly,
have gone to their reward.

Father McCabe’s successor was the Rev. George T. Mahoney. He
came here on February 7, 1897, from the pastorate of the Sacred Heart
parish, Central Falls. A man of exceptional culture, he brought to the
administration of hig office a zeal and intelligence that served most effect-
ively in maintaining the parish along the high plane to which it had been
lifted by his great predecessor.

Early in his pastorate in September, 1895, the parish of the Sacred
Heart was established by a division of St. Charles parish. Its first pastor
was the Rev. John McCarthy who came here from the parish of the Im-
maculate Conception in Providence.

An outstanding work, in a material way, of Father Mahoney’s in-
cumbency was the erection of the splendid parish school which now, after
more than 30 years, stands comparison with the best schools of modern
construction, This building begun in May, 1897, was erected at a cost of
$60.,000, and was formally dedicated by the Rt. Rev. Matthew Harkins,
Bishop of the Diocese, on July 4, 1898, Thus the year 1928 maiks a tyiple
parish anniversary: the 100th of the first Mass; the 60th of the first use
of the present chureh; and the 30th of the opening of the new school.

Another outstanding work of Father Mahoney’s pastorate was the
organization and establishment, under Bishop Harkins, of the St. Vincent
de Paul Home on Pond street. This home was started in November, 1905,
and ever since that day, guided by the wise and prudent direction of the
Sisters of the Order of St. Francis, it has been doing a great work of
merey in owr midst. In a sense it may be said to be Father Mahoney’s
most enduring monument. And yet, so many are the objects associated
with his memoiy in the church itself, which he greatly embellished that
one can hardly say what will longest remain, as time goes on, to honor
hig name.
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Father Mahoney died December 10, 1307, aged 56 years, and is lov-
ingly remembered for his gracious courtesy, his priestly devotion to his
duties and the zeal and intelligence with which he labored. During his
incumbency he was assisted by Revs. Thomas E. Ryan, William J. Nagle,
Thomas F, Winn.

At the time of Father Mahoney’s death St. Charles possessed all the
buildings usually regarded as necessary to a complete parish unit. It had
a churceh, a rectory, a school, a convent, and a home for orphans. Truly a
splendid accomplishment and a record of zeal and devotion of which both
priests and people could be proud. And yet, it must be said that save for
the school, which was of recent construction, none of the buildings were
all that they were projected to he nor all that they were destined to be-
come. They had been carried out in a manner proportionate to the re-
quirements and circamstances of the time of their building. Thus the
work of succeeding pastors would to be not so much the introduction of
new establishments, as the maintenance and development of those already
existing ; and such work calls for a zeal and intelligence no less conspicuous
than those that are required for the putting up of the institutions them-
selves. Fortunately Father Mahoney’s successor, the Rev, M. P. Cassidy,
was one highly qualified for the work. He came here on February 26,
1908, from St. Patrick’s Church, Valley Falls, where for 15 years he had
served ag Permanent Rector. And he came not as a stranger to a strange
land, but as one whe returned to his own home after a long absence. For
Father Cassidy had been born in St. Charles” parish, had received the
Sacraments in St. Charles’ Chuich, and from here he had gone forth a
young priest to minister to other parts of the diocese.

His outstanding accomplishment in a material way was the work car-
ried on in renovating and embellishing the interior of the church of which
something more will be said in a later chapter. But of course there were
besides the many other ameliorations which are ever and always being
carried out in parishes with extensive holdings by zealous and energetic
pastors. Conspicuous among these activities was the work done on the
property surrounding the churech and school. In the carrying on of this
there was entailed an act in whose performance sentiment had somewhat
to be disregarded, namely the removal to the cemetery of the remains of
Fathers Lenihan and MeCabe which for many yvears had rested in the
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ground just outside the church entrance. The splendid esplanade effect,
however, that resulted made clearly manifest the propriety and desirability
of the course, Another excellent achievement was the securing of the
property just across Daniel street for the church. The two houses that
stood on it were removed, and the lots cleared for subsequent parish de-
velopments, And so on for many further improvements in houses and
other buildings something was always calling for accomplichment. Thus
until the end he labored. That end came in 1920. For some months he
lay i1l in the rectory, until at last on July the 6th he heard the “well done”
of hig Divine Master.

Father Casgidy was succeeded on August 13 of the same year by the
Rev. C. J. Holland who came here from Wakefield, R. I. Within two weeks
after Father Holland’s coming, Rev. James Fitz Simon, who had been as-
gistant to Father Cassidy for 12 years, having succeeded Father Winn,
was promoted to the pastorate of St. Bridget’s Church, Thornton. His
place was filled by the Rev. F. A. Baker who came here on September 4,
from St. Mary’s parish, Providence. Father Welch, who had been asso-
ciated with Father Fitz Simon since 1914, continued on until September,
1926, when he wag called to take charge of the parish of St. Margaret’s,
Rumford. His place was taken by the present second assistant, Rev. Wil-
liam J. Tierney, who came from the Sacred Teart Church, Fall River.
Under the leadership and guidance of these priests, the parish has con-
tinued its ways of notable devotion to the things that count for religious
development.

St. Charles is not by any means one of the really big parishes of the
diocese as far as its numbers go; but it is and always has been outstand-
ing for its zeal and devotion for the things of faith. One could not begin
to set down in a brief record the multitude of events by which it has thus
distinguished itself in itz long and glorvious career, but our Rt. Reverend
Ordinary, Bishop William A. Hickey, knows, and more than once has held
up St. Charles as an example for emulation. When a call is made for any
cause, parochial or diocesan, its generosity has always been conspicuous.
In the appeals for the evection of high schools, for works of charity, or for
migsionary enterprises of the church at large, the part played by it has
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